
Page 1 of 4 

 

 

 

 

 
Thorn Group Limited 

ABN 54 072 507 147 
 

 
 
 
 

Appendix 4E  
 

RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 
 

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This information is the information required under ASX Listing Rule 4.3A.  
 
 
Contents 

1. Appendix 4E 

2. Annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 

 
  



Page 2 of 4 

Appendix 4E Preliminary Final Report under ASX Listing Rule 4.3A 
 
 
Current year:    1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 
Previous corresponding year:  1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 
 
 
 
RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 
 

Year ended 31 March 2021 

$’000s 

31 March 2020 

$’000s 
% Change 

Revenue from ordinary activities- 
Continuing operations 

104,134 204,299 Down 49% 

(Loss)/ Profit from discontinued 
operation, net of tax 

- - N/A 

Reported net profit / (loss) after tax 8,396 (81,068) N/A 

 
 
Consumer Leasing  
 
The Group’s consumer leasing division, Radio Rentals, recorded lower sales units and revenues this year with 
5,346 units being installed in the year which was 93% lower than last year’s 74,503. Revenue reduced by 
$91.7m to $70.7m (2020: $162.4m) as a result. Revenue is a combination of sales revenue from installations 
under new contracts (down $68.8m to $6.0m) and the interest and fee income from past written contracts. 
Interest income reduced by $21.2m to $58.4m as the receivables book (before provisioning), which generates 
the interest income, fell 47% to $77.3m (2020: $146.0m).  
 
In the face of reduced revenue, the costs of the division were cut. Costs other than impairment reduced by 
$90.2m driven by a combination of reductions in the cost of goods sold, staff costs and other expenses.  
 
The credit loss impairment expense on the lease receivables book reduced $25.1m to $13.6m (2020: $38.8m) 
driven by the reduction in the book. Arrears over 30 days outstanding at the year-end finished at 15.0% 
compared to 15.7% at 31 March 2020.  
 
EBIT was a $15.6m profit (2020: $8.0m loss). 
 
Business Finance 
 
Equipment finance originations were $5.2m for the year (2020: $152.0m), the majority of which took place in 
April prior to the warehouse going into run-off. Given the lack of external funding and the impact of COVID-19, 
originations were kept to a minimum for the remainder of the year with a decision announced to the market in 
February 2021 that equipment finance originations would cease until further notice. 
 
Arrears over 30 days started the year at 5.1% at the end of March 2020, reached 11.8% by the end of April and 
peaked at 36.6% in July, the majority of which was driven by COVID-19. At the end of March 2021 this figure 
was 8.6%. Following renegotiations with our funders’ variations were offered and accepted by many of our 
customers. Arrears have been reset at the date of variation. At 31 March 2021 $73.0m of Business Finance 
receivables were identified as COVID-19 impacted. Out of these, 14.5% by value were greater than 30 days in 
arrears at the balance date and $44.9m had received a variation in the second half of the financial year. 
 
The receivables book and the profit or loss statement have been heavily influenced by both the reduction in 
originations and the impact of COVID-19; receivables (pre provision) reduced from $323.4m to $192.5m; 
revenue decreased 20% to $33.4m (2020: $41.9m) and impairment expenses fell by $37.5m to $12.4m (2020: 
$49.9m). 
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EBIT was a $12.7m profit (2020: $19.1m loss).  
 
Corporate 
 
Corporate expenses were up slightly at $8.9m (2020: $8.3m). 
A one-off recovery of $1.3m from a previously impaired loan in our trade debtor finance, which was sold in a 
prior period, has been included here. 
 
Significant items 
 
In the current financial year the Group incurred the following related to the closure of the store network: 
redundancy costs of $3.5m and IT-related costs of $0.6m offset by a $1.4m net gain on exiting the majority of 
the Group’s lease obligations. In addition, $2.9m in JobKeeper grants received have been presented as a 
significant item.  
In the prior year $26.0m of costs were incurred in settling the Radio Rentals class action and $0.7m of costs for 
the strategic review. 
 
Net interest expense 
 
Net interest expense decreased by 31% from $16.3m to $11.3m. These costs include $0.2m of financing 
charges on lease liabilities. Borrowings in the warehouse declined to $166.3m (2020: $293.5m) as the 
warehouse was in amortisation with the majority of cash collected used to pay down the outstanding notes.  
 
Tax expense  
 
While there is a taxable profit, there is no current tax payable as a result of the tax losses carried forward. 
Additionally, the Group has not recognised any deferred tax benefits attributable as directors were not certain 
that there would be sufficient taxable profits in future years to justify their recognition as an asset on the balance 
sheet. 
 
 
 

DIVIDENDS 
Cents per ordinary 

share 
Franked cents per 

ordinary share 

 
Special dividend  (cents per share) 

 
7.5 10.7 

Final dividend (declared, not yet provided at 31 March 2021) 1.0 1.4 

 
The record date for the 2021 final dividend will be 5 July 2021. The payment date for the 2021 final dividend will 
be 21 July 2021. The company’s dividend reinvestment plan will operate in respect of the 2021 final dividend 
and a discount of 2.5% will apply. 
 

NET TANGIBLE ASSETS 31 March 2021 31 March 2020 

Net tangible assets per ordinary share 28 cents 33 cents 

 
 
Entities over which control has been gained or lost during the period 
 
N/A 
 
 
Compliance statement 
 
The financial statements are currently in the process of being audited and on publication of the audited financial 
statements in June 2021 the audit report is expected to include an emphasis of matter paragraph reflecting a 
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material uncertainty in respect of going concern basis of preparation with reference to the matters included in 
Note 1 of the financial report attached to 4E. 
 
 
 
Refer to the attached financial report for all other disclosures in respect of the Appendix 4E. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Warren McLeland 
Chairman  
 
 
Date 31 May 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 
 

1 
 

 

$’000 AUD Notes 2021 2020 

Continuing operations  
  

Sales revenue                                    6,037                                 74,873  

Interest revenue                                 91,001                              121,061  

Other revenue                                    7,096  8,365  

Revenue 
 

                            104,134                              204,299  

Finance lease cost of sales 
 

                                (8,414)  (59,993) 

Employee benefit expense 25                              (29,295)  (48,194) 

Impairment losses on loans and receivables 14                              (26,136) (88,893) 

Marketing expenses 
 

                                (1,223)  (8,499) 

Property expenses 
 

                                (1,408)  (5,266) 

Transport expenses 
 

                                (1,239)  (3,252) 

Communication & IT expenses 
 

                                (6,753)  (6,240) 

Printing, stationary and postage 
 

                                (1,229)  (1,429) 

Insurance expenses 
 

(1,628) (1,897) 

Impairment of inventory  (2,527) (2,297) 

Legal expenses                                  (3,120) (1,242) 

Other expenses 
 

                                (3,969) (11,300) 

Impairment of intangibles & property, plant and equipment 9,10                                      (216) (1,925) 

Net gain on modification of lease liability                                    1,433   - 

Recovery of impaired loan                                    1,330  - 

Class action settlement and related expenses                                               -     (25,944) 

Total operating expenses 
 

                             (84,394) (266,371) 

Earnings before interest and tax ("EBIT") 
 

                               19,740  

 

(62,072) 

Finance expenses 
 

                             (11,344)  (16,253) 

Profit/(Loss) before income tax  
 

                               8,396  (78,324) 

Income tax  11                                             -    (2,744)   

Profit/(Loss) after tax for the year 
 

8,396 (81,068)  

    

Other comprehensive income - items that may be reclassified  
subsequently to profit or loss    

Other comprehensive income  
                                  2,601                                  (2,996) 

Income tax                                              -    (998) 

Other comprehensive income for the year                                    2,601  (3,994) 

    

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) 
 

10,997 (85,062) 

    

Earnings per share    

Basic earnings per share (cents) 18 2.6 (33.7) 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 18 2.5 (33.7) 

    

The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

  



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2021 
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$’000 AUD Note 2021 2020   

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 4 88,045  49,619  

Trade and other receivables 5 67,093 129,297  

Prepayments and other assets  2,935  2,895  

Inventories 3 128  7,975  

Income tax receivable  -  3,051  

Total current assets   158,201 192,838  

Non-current assets    

Trade and other receivables 5 129,549 260,546  

Deferred tax assets 12 - -  

Property, plant and equipment 10 -  -    

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 8 1,000 - 

Right of use asset 9 - - 

Total non-current assets   130,549  260,546  

Total assets   288,750 453,383  

 
Liabilities 

   

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 6 15,723 14,576 

Lease liability 7 507  6,142  

Loans and borrowings 16 78,203  117,918  

Employee benefits  3,951  5,053  

Provisions 15 1,944  3,929  

Total current liabilities   100,328 147,619  

Non-current liabilities    

Loans and borrowings 16 88,100  187,627  

Lease liability 7 427 5,578  

Employee benefits  170  462  

Derivative financial instruments 13 3,721  6,322  

Provisions 15 870  -    

Total non-current liabilities   93,288  199,989  

Total liabilities   193,616 347,609  

Net assets   95,134 105,775   

 
Equity 

   

Issued capital 17 157,843  155,255  

Reserves 17 (3,492)  (5,912)  

Retained earnings  (59,217) (43,569)  

Total equity   95,134 105,775  

 
The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 
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$’000 AUD Share capital Reserves 
Retained  

earnings 
Total Equity 

 

Balance at 1 April 2019  120,932  (1,424) 

 

48,811  168,319 

Changes on initial application of AASB 16 (see note 1(h)) - - (11,460) (11,460) 

Restated total equity at 1 April 2019 120,932   (1,424)  37,351   156,859  

Total comprehensive income     

Net loss for the period  -     -    (81,068)    (81,068) 

Other comprehensive income  -     (3,994)  -  (3,994) 

Total comprehensive income  -     (3,994) (81,068)   (85,062) 

Transactions with owners of the company     

Issue of shares under capital raising 34,323  -  -  34,323  

Issue of shares under dividend reinvestment plan -  -  -  -  

Share-based payments transactions -   (494)  148   (347) 

Dividends to shareholders - - - - 

Total transactions with owners of the company  34,323   (494)  148  33,977  

Balance at 31 March 2020 155,255   (5,912) (43,569) 105,775 

  

 

$’000 AUD Share capital Reserves 
Retained  

earnings 
Total Equity 

 

Balance at 1 April 2020  155,255  (5,912) (43,569) 105,775 

Total comprehensive income     

Net profit for the period - - 8,396 8,396 

Other comprehensive income - 2,601 - 2,601 

Total comprehensive income - 2,601 8,396 10,997 

Transactions with owners of the company     

Issue of shares under capital raising - - - - 

Issue of shares under dividend reinvestment plan 2,588 - - 2,588 

Share-based payments transactions - (181) 132 (49) 

Dividends to shareholders - - (24,176) (24,176) 

Total transactions with owners of the company 2,588 (181) (24,044) (21,637) 

Balance at 31 March 2021 157,843 (3,492) (59,217) 95,134 

 

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 
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$’000 AUD  2021 2020 

 
Cash flows from operating activities  

    

Cash receipts from customers (excluding interest) 
 

204,312 243,947  

Interest revenue received  90,342 117,525 

Cash received from liquidation of inventory  5,691 - 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees*  (71,120)  (138,598) 

Acquisition of inventories  (5,117)  (61,273) 

Equipment finance originations 
 

(5,452)  (155,784)  

Cash generated from operations 
 

218,656  5,816 

Net borrowing costs 
 

(11,803)  (16,117) 

Income tax refund  
 

3,051  1,145  

Net cash from operating activities 
 

209,904 (9,156) 

  
 

 

Cash flows from investing activities  
 

 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and software 

 
(107)                                    (809)    

Acquisition of financial asset  (1,000) - 

Net cash from investing activities 
 

(1,107) (809) 

  
 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

 
 

 
Proceeds from borrowings 

 
11,339  154,458  

Repayment of borrowings 
 

(150,582)  (152,557) 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (9,540) (7,267) 

Proceeds from issues of shares  2,588  34,323  

Dividends paid 
 

(24,176)                       -  

Net cash from financing activities 
 

(170,371) 28,958 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  38,426 18,992 

Cash and cash equivalents at April 1  49,619 30,627 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  88,045 49,619 

 

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
*Includes $25m class action settlement and associated legal costs settled during the 2020 financial year.
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Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Profit/(Loss) after tax  8,396 (81,068) 

Adjustments for:   
Impairment and net gain on modification of lease liability (1,217)  1,905  

Equity settled transactions (49)  (346) 

Other adjustments  78 5,435 

Operating loss before changes in working capital and provisions 7,208 (74,074) 

Changes in working capital and provisions, net of the effects of the sale of subsidiaries  
 

Decrease in trade and other receivables  193,201   67,551  

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and other assets (40)  1,457  

Decrease in inventories  7,847   5,663  

(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liability  -   (1,100) 

Decrease in income tax receivables  3,051   1,163  

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables  1,147   (9,750) 

Decrease in provisions and employee benefits (2,510) (64) 

Net cash from operating activities  209,904  (9,156) 

 
The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 March 2021 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
Thorn Group Limited (the ‘Company’) is a for-profit company 
domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s 
registered office is Level 1, 62 Hume Highway, Chullora, NSW, 
2190. The consolidated financial statements of the Company 
as at and for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred 
to as the ‘Group’ or ‘consolidated entity’). Thorn is a 
diversified financial services group providing the leasing of 
household products to consumers, and commercial finance to 
small and medium-size enterprises.  

(a) Statement of Compliance 

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements which have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards (‘AASBs’) adopted by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the 
Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial statements 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRSs’) adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (‘IASB’).  

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
Board of Directors on 31 May 2021. 

(b) Basis of Preparation 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis except for derivative financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value. 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Instrument 
2016/191 issued by the Australian Securities & Investments 
Commission and in accordance with that Instrument, 
amounts in the financial report and directors’ report have 
been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise stated. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. These accounting policies have been 
consistently applied by each entity in the consolidated entity. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. 

In particular, information about significant areas of 
estimation, uncertainties and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements include 
the following: 

(i) Valuation and impairment of goodwill and other 

intangibles. See note 9; and 

(ii) Determination of expected credit losses of receivables. 

See note 14. 

(iii) Net realisable value of inventory. See note 3. 

The notes include information which is required to understand 
the financial statements and is material and relevant to the 
operations, financial position and performance of the Group. 
Information is considered material and relevant if: 

(i) The amount is significant because of its size or nature; 

(ii) It is important for understanding the results of the Group 

or changes in the Group’s business; and 

(iii) It relates to an aspect of the Group’s operations that is 

important to its future operations. 

 

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic has increased the 

estimation uncertainty in the preparation of these 

Consolidated Financial Statements.  

 

The estimation uncertainty is associated with: 

(i) the extent and duration of the disruption to businesses 

arising from the actions by governments, businesses and 

consumers to contain the spread of the virus; 

(ii) the extent and duration of the expected economic 

downturn. This includes the disruption to capital 

markets, deteriorating availability of credit, liquidity 

concerns, increasing unemployment, declines in 

consumer discretionary spending, reductions in 

production because of decreased demand, and other 

restructuring activities; and 

(iii) the effectiveness of government and central bank 

measures that have and may continue to be put in place 

to support businesses and consumers through this 

disruption and economic downturn. 

 

The Group has developed expected credit loss estimates in 

these Consolidated Financial Statements based on forecasts 

of economic conditions which reflect expectations and 

assumptions as at 31 March 2021 about future events that 

the Directors believe are reasonable in the circumstances. 

There is a considerable degree of judgement involved in 

preparing forecasts. The underlying assumptions are subject 

to uncertainties which are often outside the control of the 

Group. Accordingly, actual economic conditions are likely to 

be different from those forecast since anticipated events 

frequently do not occur as expected, and the effect of those 

differences may significantly impact accounting estimates 

included in these financial statements. 
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The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group’s 
expected credit loss estimates is disclosed and further 
explained in note 14 to the financial statements. Readers 
should carefully consider these disclosures in light of the 
inherent uncertainty described above. 

Financing and going concern basis for the financial report 

The directors have prepared the Financial Report on the 

going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal 

business activities and the realization of assets and the 

settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 

The Group achieved a net profit after tax of $8.4m (2020: 

$81.1m loss) for the year ended 31 March 2021 and net 

cash generated in operating activities during the same 

period amounted to a $209.9m inflow (2020: $9.2m 

outflow). A significant proportion of the cash inflow was a 

result of abnormal business conditions during the period, 

including Covid-19 and Government incentives such as 

JobKeeper, JobSeeker and other Covid-19 stimulus 

payments.  These abnormal business conditions and the 

reversal of non-cash ECL provisions contributed to the net 

profit.   

The Group provides financing to both consumers and 

small and medium size enterprises across a range of 

industries, many of which have been impacted by COVID-

19.   

Thorn’s Consumer leasing division was significantly 

affected by COVID-19.  The Group announced the 

permanent closure of the Radio Rentals stores and 

warehouses and the core of the consumer leasing 

business was moved completely online with the launch of 

a new digital business model.   The digital business model 

is not fully operational and is still in Beta testing mode.  

The consumer leasing division recorded lower sales units 

and revenues this year with 5,346 units being installed in 

the year, which was 93% lower than the last financial 

year’s 74,503. The consumer finance originations have 

been behind expectations due to limited marketing 

activity during the launch of the new business model, the 

slower than expected on-boarding of new dropship 

suppliers and the macro economic factors that have made 

assessing credit more difficult.  

The Business Finance division also faced challenges.  On 5 

May 2020, the equipment finance warehouse was 

determined to have breached one of its warehouse 

parameters as a result of customers affected by COVID-19 

progressively going into arrears.  In September 2020 

Thorn reached agreement with its funders to provide 

relief to some of its COVID-19 affected customers in the 

form of contract variations which were finalised in early 

2021.  As at 31 March 2021, $73.0m of receivables were 

identified as COVID-19 impacted. Of these, 14.5% by value 

were greater than 30 days in arrears.  Thorn also ceased 

equipment finance originations in the Business Finance 

division but continues to discuss future options with 

funders in the securitised warehouse facility.  Thorn is 

revitalising the Business Finance division, including 

launching the new debtor finance product.  

These events resulted in redundancies for approximately 

300 casual and full time staff across the Group and a 

significant reshaping of the organisation’s cost base.  

The collections on the two receivables books and the 

continued cost reductions have been cash positive for the 

Group.  The Radio Rentals receivables balance (net of 

unearned interest and credit provisioning) reduced by 

$61.7m to $48.0m (2020: $109.7m). The Business Finance 

net receivables balance reduced by $130.9m to $147.5m 

(2020: $278.4m). The current performance of the 

consumer leasing collections is not meeting forecasted 

targets and the impact of the withdrawal of the 

Government Covid-19 stimulus payments is uncertain.   

The Group is now effectively in a “start-up” phase. This 

involves a significant investment in technology and 

navigating through an increasingly competitive market 

with slow, continuing re-engineering of outdated business 

practices and processes. Further, the Group is operating in 

a challenging compliance and regulatory environment. 

These factors could significantly impact the Group’s ability 

to generate profits and net cash inflows and therefore, 

there is a significant risk of the Group making an 

operating loss in the 12 month period from the date of 

this report. 

Considering all the above, and acknowledging that 

corporate actions always contain some risk and 

uncertainty, the directors have reviewed the Group’s cash 

flow forecast through to 30 June 2022.  

The directors are of the opinion that there are reasonable 

grounds to believe that the collection from the two 

receivables books will provide sufficient incoming cash 

flows and remain confident that the business will, longer 

term, be successful in achieving its strategic objectives. 

However, the success of the recently launched Radio 

Rentals online business and revitalisation of the Business 

Finance division are not guaranteed and along with the 

continuing Covid-19 uncertainty, and the challenging 

compliance and regulatory environment, multiple 

material uncertainties exist that cast significant doubt as 

to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and 

therefore whether Thorn will be able to realise its assets 

and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 

business and for the amounts recorded in this report.  

(c) Accounting Policies 

Accounting policies have been included within the underlying 
notes with which they relate where possible. The balance of 
accounting policies are detailed below: 
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(d) Inventories 

The costs of individual items of inventory are determined 
using weighted average costs less volume rebates received. 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. 

(e) Revenue 

The major components of revenue are recognised as follows: 

(i) Finance lease sales revenue is recognised at the time the 

rental contract is entered into based on the fair value of 

the leased item, or if lower, the present value of the 

lease payments discounted using a market rate of 

interest. 

(ii) Interest revenue is calculated and charged on the 

outstanding loan or lease balance and recognised on an 

accrual basis using the effective and implicit interest rate 

method respectively. 

(iii) Other revenue includes late fees, establishment fees, 

termination fees and other non-lease related income. 

(f) Cost of Sales 

Finance lease costs of sales comprise the cost of the item sold 
as well as other costs associated with the transaction such as 
incentives offered to customers. 

(g) Finance expenses 

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on lease 
liabilities, interest expense on borrowings, interest rate 
hedge costs and the amortisation of deferred borrowing 
costs. All borrowing costs are recognised in the profit or loss 
using the effective interest rate method. 

(h) Impairment 

Non-Financial Assets 
In accordance with AASB 136 the carrying amounts of the 
consolidated entity’s assets within the scope of the standard, 
are reviewed at each balance date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is 
the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. In assessing the recoverable amount the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset.  

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the 
“cash-generating units”). The assets acquired in a business 

combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, are 
allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
profit or loss statement, unless an asset has previously been 
re-valued, in which case the impairment loss is recognised as 
a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any 
excess recognised through profit or loss. 

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to cash-generating units (group of units) 
and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets 
in the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis. 

(i) Goods and Services Tax 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability 
in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a 
gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 

(j) Changes in Accounting Policy 

A number of new or amended standards became applicable 
for the current reporting period. The group did not have to 
change its accounting policies or make retrospective 
adjustments as a result of adopting these standards. 

(k) New Standards and Interpretations Adopted 

During the year Thorn applied AASB 120 Accounting for 
Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance 
(AASB 120) for the first time as Thorn qualified for the Federal 
Government’s JobKeeper grant scheme, administered by the 
Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”). The grant is recognised as 
income when Thorn is reasonably assured that it will comply 
with the conditions attaching to it, and the grant will be 
received.  The grant is recognised as a receivable when the 
associated wage payments are made.  Receipt of 
reimbursement from the ATO reduces the receivable.  The 
standard requires entities to match income and expenses.  It 
allows a presentation choice for the grant to be presented as 
“income” or to be deducted from the related expenses.  

Thorn has chosen to present within employee benefit 
expense. 
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(l) Reclassification of comparative financial information 

During the period, the classification of transactions were reviewed and certain reclassifications were made to financial 
statement line items to enhance presentation. The comparative information in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of financial position, segment note and statement of cash flow have been reclassified 
consistent with the presentation adopted in the 31 March 2021 financial statements.  

- Trade and other payables have been consolidated and presented as a single item on the statement of financial position with 
further information provided in note 6. 

- Chattel mortgages have historically been presented as finance leases in notes 5, 7 and 14. This has now been adjusted to 
loan receivables, which resulted in a net movement between lease receivables and loans receivables of $135,886,000.  

- A number of business finance receivables have credit balances. Previously they were presented as part of trade receivables. 
They have now been presented as part of lease and loan receivables. This change resulted in trade receivables increasing by 
$3,110,000 and lease and loan receivables decreasing by $642,000 and $2,467,000 respectively. 

- Impairment of inventory and insurance expenses were previously presented as part of other expenses. They have now been 
presented separately on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  

- Certain segment liabilities have been reclassified between divisions, resulting in the consumer leasing segment liabilities 
decreasing by $6,322,000 and business finance segment liabilities increasing by $6,322,000. 

- In note 22 SPE, the net receivables has reduced by $20,225,000 as our allocation methodology for our portfolio level credit 
provisions has changed. 

 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 March 2021 
 

10 
 

2. SEGMENT REPORTING 

The Board and CEO (the chief operating decision maker) monitor the operating results of the two reportable segments which 
are the Consumer Leasing division and the Business Finance division. 

Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss.  Interest on the (now closed) corporate facility and 
income tax expense are not allocated to operating segments, as this type of activity is managed on a group basis.  

 

2021 

$’000 AUD 

Consumer Leasing 

 

Business finance Corporate Consolidated 

Sales Revenue 6,037 - - 6,037 

Interest Revenue 58,375 32,626 - 91,001 

Other 6,280 816 - 7,096 

Total Segment revenue 70,692 33,442 - 104,134 

Recovery of impaired loan - - 1,330 1,330 

Operating expenses (58,554) (20,897) (7,490) (86,941) 

EBITDA 12,138 12,545 (6,160) 18,523 

Net gain on modification of lease liability 1,433 - - 1,433 

Depreciation and amortisation - - - - 

Impairment - - (216) (216) 

EBIT 13,571 12,545 (6,376) 19,740 

Finance expense (727) (10,617) - (11,344) 

Profit before tax  12,844 1,928 (6,376) 8,396 

 

Segment assets 52,146 167,304 69,300 288,750 

Segment liabilities (20,946) (172,670) - (193,616) 
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2020 
$’000 AUD 

Consumer Leasing Business Finance Corporate Consolidated 

Sales Revenue  74,873   -   -   74,873  

Interest Revenue  79,626   41,434   -   121,060  

Other  7,937   429   -   8,366  

Total Segment revenue  162,436   41,863  -   204,299  

Operating expenses  (168,738)  (60,900)  (34,808)  (264,446) 

EBITDA  (6,302)  (19,037)  (34,808)  (60,147) 

Depreciation and amortisation  -   -   -   -  

Impairment  (1,665)  (62)  (198)  (1,925) 

EBIT  (7,967)  (19,099)  (35,006)  (62,071) 

Finance expense  (1,744)  (14,509)  -   (16,253) 

Profit before tax   (9,710)  (33,608)  (35,006)  (78,324) 

 

Segment assets 

 

 122,231  

 

 299,378  

 

 31,774  

 

 453,383  

Segment liabilities (47,741) (299,867)  -   (347,609) 

 

3. INVENTORIES 

$’000 AUD  2021 2020 

Inventories    128 7,975 

At 31 March 2020 an additional provision of $3.7m was recognised to write down inventories to net realisable value as a result 
of the decision to close the store network. This was recognised as an expense in 2020 and included in cost of sales in the profit 
or loss statement. Subsequent to 31 March 2020 much of the remaining inventory was sold during the ordinary course of 
business during April and May with the actual cost recognised in cost of sales. The balance remaining was liquidated through a 
number of channels with a loss recognised in operating expenses. 

The remaining inventory is held to meet servicing obligations in the Consumer Leasing division.  
 

 
4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

$’000 AUD  2021 2020 

Bank balances  88,045 49,619 

Call deposits   - - 

Cash and cash equivalents   88,045 49,619 

Included in cash is an amount of $19,745,000 (2020: $20,896,000) held as part of the consolidated entity’s funding 
arrangements that are not available to the consolidated entity. This cash is held within the warehouse and as such is under the 
control of the Trustee. Free cash is therefore $68,300,000 (2020: $28,723,000). 
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5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Current     

Trade receivables 6,932 10,214 

Finance lease receivables 30,719 64,696 

Loan receivables 29,442 54,387 

  67,093 129,297 

Non-current    

Finance lease receivables 57,860 122,292 

Loan receivables 71,689 138,254 

 129,549  260,546  

Finance lease receivables are recognised at the present value of the minimum lease payments less impairment losses. The 
present value is calculated by discounting the minimum lease payments due, at the interest rate implicit in the lease. At the 
balance date there was approximately $41,000 (2020: $246,000) of unguaranteed residual value in the finance lease 
receivables balance. 

Trade receivables and loan receivables are stated at their amortised cost less impairment losses. The consolidated entity’s 
exposure to credit risk and impairment losses related to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 14. 
 

6. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Trade payables 425 1,133 

Other payables 15,298 13,443 

  15,723 14,576 

 
Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Other payables consists of marketing accruals, 
refundable deposits for the business finance division and other general accruals. The carrying amounts of trade and other 
payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature. 

7. LEASES   

Finance leases as lessor  

The Consumer Leasing division leases household goods to consumers. Contracts range from 1 - 60 months. The Business 
Finance division finances business assets to small and medium enterprises. Finance is provided in the form of a lease, a hire 
purchase agreement or a chattel mortgage contract. The majority of contracts in both divisions are for 24 months or more.  

Leases where the lessee has substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased assets are classified as 
finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases. The majority of the Group’s leased assets meet the definition 
of finance leases.  

Where finance leases are granted to third parties, the present value of the minimum lease payments plus an estimate of any 
unguaranteed residual value is recognised as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value 
of the receivable is unearned interest income. Lease receipts are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
Interest income is recognised over the term of the lease using the effective interest rate method, which reflects a constant rate 
of return. Finance lease income is presented within interest revenue.  

Contracts are secured against the assets leased. In the Business Finance division further security may be obtained including the 
taking of personal and director guarantees.  
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The future minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable finance leases are as follows: 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Lease receivables - less than one year 100,778 162,525 

Lease receivables - between one and five years 81,861 203,647 

Total Lease receivables 182,639 366,172 

Unearned interest income on finance leases - less than one year (29,773) (58,697) 

Unearned interest income on finance leases - between one and five years (22,649) (69,983) 

Total unearned interest income on finance leases  (52,422) (128,680) 

Impairment provisioning  (41,638) (50,504) 

Net Lease receivables  88,579 186,988 

 

Gross cash flows are expected to be collected as follows: $100,778,000 less than one year, $55,313,000 between one and two 
years, $22,721,000 between years two and three, $3,575,000 between years three and four, and $252,000 between years four 
and five. 

No operating lease revenue (2020: $243,000) has been recognised in other revenue in the Consumer Leasing division. Finance 
lease revenue of $32,626,000 (2020: $41,434,000) has been recognised in interest revenue in the Business Finance division.  

Finance leases as lessee 

Net gain on modification of lease liabilities 

The adoption of AASB 16 (on 1 April 2019) resulted in the following accounting entries: right of use assets increased by $16.4m, 
trade payables decreased by $1.1m and lease liabilities increased by $17.4m. The right of use asset was deemed to be 
immediately impaired and this resulted in the following accounting entries; right of use assets decreased by $16.4m, deferred 
tax increased by $5.2m and retained earnings decreased by $11.1m.  

At 31 March 2020 the lease liability was $11.7m, of which $8.3m related to property leases, $3.2m were vehicle lease 
commitments and $0.2m were printer lease commitments.  

During the year, following the decision to permanently close the Radio Rentals store network, negotiations were undertaken 
with landlords across our property and vehicle lease portfolio in the hope of minimising the costs of exiting these leases. These 
negotiations resulted in net payments for amounts that were $1.4m below the recognised liabilities for these leases. As there 
was no remaining right of use asset to offset this gain against the full amount has been recognised as a net gain on modification 
of lease liability.  

At 31 March 2021 the lease liability was $0.9m, of which $0.6m related to property leases and $0.3m were vehicle lease 
commitments. 

Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases. 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Impairment charge - right-of-use assets   

Properties 109  1,095  

Vehicles -  -    

Printers -  -    

Total impairment 109  1,095  

Interest expense (included in finance expenses) 176 715  

Expense relating to short-term and low-value leases  439 2,586 

Expense relating to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities 526 559  

Total expenses relating to leases  1,141 3,860  

Net gain on modification of lease liability 
                        

(1,433) 
- 

Total  (292) 3,860  

The total cash outflow for leases in the year ending 31 March 2021 was $9,540,000. 
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8. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) comprise equity securities that are not held for 
trading and which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category. These are strategic 
investments and the Group considers this classification to be more relevant. 

Equity investments at FVOCI comprise the following individual investments:  

$’000 AUD  2021 2020 

Quicka Holdings Pty Ltd   1,000 - 

 
During the year Thorn completed a strategic investment in Quicka Holdings Pty Ltd trading as “QuickaPay.”  As a result of this 
investment, Thorn Group’s CEO Peter Lirantzis was appointed as a director of Quicka Holdings Pty Ltd on 24 March 2021. 
Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair value is provided in note 14.  

 

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

$’000 AUD Right of use asset Software Total 

Year ended 31 March 2021         

Opening net carrying amount  -     -     -    

Additions  109  -   109  

Amortisation charges for the year -  -  -  

Impairment charges for the year (109) -  (109) 

Closing net book amount -  -   -  

At 31 March 2021    

Cost  17,559   17,109   34,668  

Amortisation and impairment (17,559) (17,109) (34,668) 

Net book amount -  -   -  

 

$’000 AUD Right of use asset Software Total 

Year ended 31 March 2020         

Opening net carrying amount  -     -     -    

Initial application of AASB 16 – creation of asset  16,355   -     16,355  

Initial application of AASB 16 – impairment of asset  (16,355)  -     (16,355) 

Additions  1,095   195   1,290  

Amortisation charges for the year  -     -     -    

Impairment charges for the year  (1,095)  (195)  (1,290) 

Closing net book amount  -     -   -  

At 31 March 2020    

Cost  17,450   17,109   34,559  

Amortisation and impairment  (17,450)  (17,109)  (34,559) 

Net book amount -   -  -  

 

Amortisation 

When not impaired, amortisation is provided on all intangible assets excluding other intangibles.  Amortisation is calculated on 
a straight-line basis so as to write off the cost of each intangible asset over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives 
for software in the current and comparative periods are 3 – 8 years. 

The residual value, the useful life and the amortisation method applied to an intangible asset are reassessed at least annually.  
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Impairment tests for Cash Generating Units (CGU)  

Consumer Leasing 

In 2019 and 2020 testing has been performed to identify if any of the Group’s intangibles were impaired as required under 
AASB 116. All were considered to be impaired and an impairment expense was recognised as a result. Given the early stage the 
Group is at regarding its strategy there is no indication that any historical impairment losses should be reversed.  

The Group’s existing revenue streams are running off while the transformation required to build a new revenue stream 
sufficient to generate excess profits to support the carrying value of any other intangibles has not yet taken place. Therefore 
definite life intangible assets as well as PP&E continue to be immediately impaired on acquisition.  

 

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

$’000 AUD Total 

Year ended 31 March 2021       

Opening net carrying amount - 

Additions 107 

Depreciation charges for the year - 

Impairment charges for the year (107) 

Closing net book amount - 

At 31 March 2021  

Cost 34,910 

Accumulated depreciation (29,421) 

Impairment (5,489) 

Net book amount - 

 

$’000 AUD Total 

Year ended 31 March 2020       

Opening net carrying amount  -  

Additions  615  

Depreciation charges for the year  -  

Impairment charges for the year  (615) 

Closing net book amount  -  

At 31 March 2020  

Cost  34,803  

Accumulated depreciation  (29,421) 

Impairment  (5,382) 

Net book amount  -  

 

Property plant and equipment 

Property plant and equipment consist of furniture, fittings, and physical computer equipment. 

Impairment  

Refer to note 9 for details. 
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE  

Recognised in the profit or loss statement 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Current tax expense   
 

Current year - - 

Adjustment for prior year - - 

Deferred tax expense  
 

Origination and reversal of temporary differences - 2,744 

Total income tax (benefit)/ expense in the profit or loss statement - 2,744 

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax accounting profit 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Profit before tax 8,396 (78,324) 

Prima facie income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) 2,519 (23,497) 

Change in income tax expense due to:  
 

Non-deductible expense and unrecognised timing differences  (6) (67) 

Utilisation of tax losses (1,657) - 

Recognised and unrecognised timing differences (856) 26,308 

(Over) / Under provided in prior years - - 

Income tax (benefit)/ expense on pre-tax accounting profit - 2,744 

 

12. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS & LIABILITIES 

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities 

  Assets Liabilities Net 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

Inventories 13,381 42,656 - - 13,381 42,656 

Property, plant and equipment 408 3,779 - - 408 3,779 

Trade, loan and other receivables 488 - - (199) 488 (199) 

Finance lease receivables - - (16,970) (49,262) (16,970) (49,262) 

Accruals 1,971 1,752 - - 1,971 1,752 

Provisions 722 1,274 - - 722 1,274 

Tax losses - - - - - - 

Financial derivative - - - - - - 

Tax assets / (liabilities) 16,970 49,461 (16,970) (49,461) - - 

The Group has unrecognised current tax losses of $48.4m ($14.5m tax effected) and $42.6m ($12.8m tax effected) of 
unrecognised deferred tax future deductions.  

Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
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Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Tax consolidation 

Thorn Group Limited and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 
April 2003 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Thorn 
Group Limited.  

Current tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members 
of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated 
group using the group allocation approach by reference to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the separate 
financial statements of each entity and the tax values applying under tax consolidation. 

Any current tax liabilities (or assets) and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the subsidiaries are assumed by 
the head entity in the tax-consolidated group and are recognised as amounts payable / (receivable) to / (from) other entities in 
the tax-consolidated group in conjunction with any tax funding arrangement amounts (refer below). Any difference between 
these amounts is recognised by the Company as an equity contribution or distribution. 

Thorn Group Limited recognises deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses of the tax-consolidated group to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits of the tax-consolidated group will be available against which the asset can be 
utilised. 

Any subsequent period adjustments to deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses as a result of revised assessments of 
the probability of recoverability is recognised by the head entity only. 

Nature of Tax Funding Arrangements and Tax Sharing Arrangements 

The head entity, in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated group, has entered into a tax funding arrangement 
which sets out the funding obligations of members of the tax-consolidated group in respect of tax amounts. The tax funding 
arrangements require payments to/from the head entity equal to the current tax liability/(asset) assumed by the head entity 
and any tax-loss deferred tax asset assumed by the head entity, resulting in the head entity recognising an inter-entity 
receivable/(payable) equal in amount to the tax liability/(asset) assumed. The inter-entity receivable/(payable) are at call. 

Contributions to fund the current tax liabilities are payable as per the tax funding arrangement and reflect the timing of the 
head entity’s obligation to make payments for tax liabilities to the relevant tax authorities.  

The head entity in conjunction with other members of the tax-consolidated group has also entered into a tax sharing 
agreement. The tax sharing agreement provides for the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the 
entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations.  

 

13. DERIVATIVE AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES 

The Group enters into interest rate swaps to fix the interest rate on the warehouse funding balance and therefore remove the 
fixed/floating interest rate mismatch between the Group’s receivables and the Group’s funding balance. These arrangements 
are designated as cash flow hedges under AASB 139 (which the Group has opted to retain as is currently permitted). This 
instrument is an amortising swap whose cash flow profile is modelled on the expected repayment profile of the receivables 
(which mirrors the funding balance) and is regularly reset. As such the swap is expected to be effective and continues to be 
effective under the requirements of AASB 139. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.  The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-
current liability as the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months from 31 March 2021.  
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The fair value of derivatives are classified as level 2 instruments as they are not traded in an active market and are determined 
using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and 
rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates.  

$’000 AUD  2021 2020 

Interest rate swap liability 3,721 6,322 

 

14. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The consolidated entity is exposed to financial risks through the normal course of its business operations. The key risks arising 
are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The 
Board has established the Risk & Compliance Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management 
policies. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

Due to the onset of COVID 19 and the restructuring of its consumer and commercial businesses, the Board of Directors adopted 
a crisis management approach with an increased number of meetings (usually weekly) to provide strategic direction and overall 
governance of business activities.  The step was to allow the newly appointed CEO and CFO sufficient time to acclimatise and 
establish new strategic priorities for the organisation going forward. 

The Risk & Compliance Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the consolidated entity’s risk 
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks 
faced by the consolidated entity. 

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the consolidated entity, to set appropriate 
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the consolidated entity’s activities. The consolidated entity, through 
training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in 
which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk of loss that arises when a customer or third party fails to pay an amount owing to the Company and is the 
most significant risk to the Group. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of receivables 
and loans. The Group leases products to consumers and provides business finance to SME’s pursuant to policies and 
procedures that are intended to ensure that there is no concentration of credit risk with any particular individual, company or 
other entity. The Group is subject to a higher level of credit risk due to the credit-constrained nature of many of the Company’s 
customers.  

The Group maintains a provision for receivable losses. The process for establishing the provision for losses is critical to the 
Group’s results of operations and financial condition.  

Credit risk typically grows in line with the growth of the loan and lease receivables in all segments.  

Expected credit loss measurement 

Under AASB 9, a three-stage approach is applied to measuring expected credit losses (‘ECL’) based on credit migration between 
the stages as follows: 

Stage 1:  At initial recognition, a provision equivalent to 12 months ECL is recognised; 
Stage 2:  Where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a provision equivalent to full lifetime 
ECL is required; and 
Stage 3:  Lifetime ECL is recognised for loans where there is objective evidence of impairment. 
 
ECL are probability-weighted and determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, taking into account the time value of 
money, past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
 
The Group has two separate receivables books; Business Finance receivables and the Radio Rentals consumer leasing 
receivables. Consumer Leasing receivables are included in one group and Business Finance receivables in another group for the 
purpose of calculating the expected credit loss.  
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Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

The Group considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk based on quantitative 
information to identify this on an asset level. Each financial asset will be assessed at the reporting date for significant 
deterioration where the financial asset is more than 30 days past due. When an account is cured it retains an adjusted and 
higher probability of default within the impairment model for 6 months. Default is defined as 60 days past due for Consumer 
Leasing and 90 days past due for Business Finance. In light of COVID-19, the Group has made an additional assessment of those 
assets which are not 30 days past due but have likely experienced a SICR as part of the management overlay set out in further 
detail below. 

Macroeconomic Scenarios  

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial 
instrument. The Group has a process for incorporating forward-looking economic scenarios and determining the probability 
weightings assigned to each scenario in determining the overall ECL. The Group prepares a base, best and worst-case scenario 
based on economic variables relevant to the Consumer Leasing and Business Finance business units.  The Group has 
incorporated this by use of a management overlay as explained below.  

Impact of COVID-19 pandemic 

The COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on the local economy has impacted our customers and our performance, and the future 
effects of the pandemic and ultimate impact on the recoverability of our receivables are uncertain. The outbreak necessitated 
governments to respond at unprecedented levels to protect public health, local economies and livelihoods. It has affected 
regions at different times and varying degrees. The varying government measures in response have added challenges, given the 
rapid pace of change and significant operational demands. 

The speed at which territories and states will be able to unwind their lockdown measures and return to pre-COVID-19 
economic levels will vary based on the levels of infection and local political decisions and access and ability to roll out vaccines. 
There remains a risk of subsequent waves of infection. 

Governments and central banks in major economies have deployed extensive measures to support their local populations. 
Measures implemented by governments have included income support to households and funding support to businesses. 

RBA measures have included cuts to policy rates, support to funding markets and asset purchases. Central banks globally as 
well as in Australia are maintaining record low interest rates for a considerable period of time and the debt burden of 
governments is expected to rise significantly. 

The Australian government’s economic response helped business stability and kept Australians in jobs through the Job Keeper 
Payment and Boosting Cash Flow for Employers, and supported Australians in need with the Coronavirus Supplement and Early 
Release of Superannuation. 

The Government’s response is now transitioning to ensure the Australian economy recovers strongly by targeting additional 
temporary support measures to boost household incomes, bring forward business and infrastructure investment activity, and 
drive the unemployment rate back down. The Government is continuing to support those sectors, regions and communities 
that face significant challenges. 

The significant changes in economic and market drivers, customer behaviours and government actions caused by COVID-19 
have also impacted the performance of financial models. These include our consumer and business finance AASB 9 credit 
models. This has required ongoing monitoring and frequent review and analysis. It also has resulted in the use of compensating 
controls, specifically as overlays on top of model outputs to provide a more appropriate assessment. 

By their nature, such compensating controls require a significant degree of management judgement and assumptions to be 
applied, and there is a risk that future performance may differ from such judgements and assumptions. The performance and 
usage of models over the near term will continue to be impacted by the consequences of the COVID-19 outbreak. 
 
As a result of the above, the expected performance of Thorn’s receivables will evolve as the situation unfolds and more data is 
available to understand and model the credit risk and loss implications from the COVID-19 pandemic and to understand the 
ultimate mitigating impact of government stimulus. Over time as the impacts work their way into the reported variables, the 
overlay is expected to reduce as the impact becomes reflected in the routine modelled outcome.  
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Management overlay 

The full impact of both the COVID-19 pandemic and the closure of the store network is uncertain at the balance date for the 
Consumer Leasing division as the Group has yet to see the anticipated increase in delinquencies which would flow through to 
the modelled expected loss provision. We are of the view that the expected impact has not yet materialised over the past 12 
months primarily as a result of the national and local government stimulus and measures taken to support the economy. We 
expect the withdrawal of the stimulus to have a significant impact on our receivables book and that the expected deterioration 
may occur. This is consistent with what we have seen in April across our Consumer portfolio and we believe this could become 
more pronounced in the coming months with the removal of the stimulus and uncertain path to a fully vaccinated population 
and further potential lockdowns and restrictions.  Therefore the Group continues to specifically consider the likely industry-
specific and retail customer impacts through an overlay. This overlay also incorporates the early data we have gathered in April 
2021.  

At 31 March 2021 $73.0m of Business Finance receivables were identified as COVID-19 impacted. Out of these, 14.5% by value 
were greater than 30 days in arrears at the balance date. $44.9m received a variation in the second half of the year and were 
all in either stage 2 or stage 3 when the variation occurred. While the arrears of the $73.0m have improved significantly in the 6 
months to 31 March 2021 and varied contracts have had positive payment patterns post variation the varied contracts have not 
had a sufficient period of repayments post variation for management to consider them completely rehabilitated. As a result, 
their arrears status has not been considered appropriate to use in the current arrears based modelled provision. At 31 March 
2021 $9.0m was in stage 1, $32.5m in stage 2 and $3.5m in stage 3. This overlay is therefore a standalone provision estimate 
for the impact of COVID-19 on the Business Finance division.  

Business Finance 

The Business Finance division finances small to medium size business across the country and many of the division's customers 
are in industries heavily affected by COVID-19. In light of evolving circumstances, our methodology has been updated from 
March 2020 and is consistent with the methodology used for the half-year results. To evaluate the ECL under the updated 
methodology, a six-point rating matrix has been developed which ranges from No Impact to Very High Impact and results in 
expected loss severities from 5% to 95%. Receivables have in turn been assigned a rating on the scale and have then been 
attributed a loss severity which has been to calculate an expected loss for each individual receivable. To allocate a rating on the 
scale to each individual receivable the portfolio has first been stratified into industry segments based on how severely 
impacted they have been from COVID-19. Within each sub-industry, a further breakdown is made where management believes 
there is a cohort of contract holders that exhibit similar risk characteristics. Some examples include cafes in major 
suburban/capital cities, certain gym franchises, and various obligors who appear to rely more on government stimulus to 
remain viable. Trading volumes, internal conversations with contract holders, and resale value of the assets are some examples 
of relevant factors used to categorise each receivable.   

Consumer Leasing 

Many of the Radio Rentals customers work in currently affected and potentially further affected industries and particularly in 
the higher affected employment statuses such as part-time and casual work. As such, the COVID-19 pandemic and the removal 
of government stimulus continues to be expected to have a material impact upon those customers financial situation and the 
related receivable credit losses. In addition to that factor, the decision to close the entire Radio Rentals store network is 
expected to present challenges to collection rates. Our view is that much of this deterioration has not occurred due to the 
extraordinary measures taken by both state and local government bodies as well as other regulatory bodies to support the 
economy.  

To assess the ECL, a rating matrix has been applied by rating customers across three criteria; monthly billing amount, 
occupation status and employment type. This resulted in a rating scale from 3 to 9. Ratings 3 to 5 are considered to be low risk, 
6 to 7 medium and 8 to 9 high risk. Receivables have then been attributed to groups across that rating scale with the AASB 9 
staging buckets and their probability of default (“PD”) adjusted upwards progressively as they move through the scale. The 
adjusted PD has been applied at a portfolio level using the current loss given default (“LGD”) to estimate the expected loss. In 
addition, the Group has overlaid this with prior experience of collection performance deterioration from situations where 
stores have been closed in the past. This has been used to estimate the increased risk to collections in the portfolio.  
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Overall 

The Group has looked at three potential scenarios, outlined below, and how these will impact the two divisions. The Group has 
then weighted the three scenarios with the highest weighting being applied to the baseline case. The outcome of this is a 
$29.3m million provision for the Business Finance Division and a $14.7m provision for the Consumer Leasing Division. 

The following provides an overview of the scenarios chosen as well as the expected change to the total overlay were the 
individual scenarios to be given a 100% weighting: 

Scenario Expectation 

Baseline 

A 100% weighting to this scenario would 
reduce the expected credit loss provision by 
circa $10.5m 

 

The baseline scenario assumes that no further large outbreaks of COVID-19 and accompanying 
hard lockdowns occur within Australia and that restrictions, when imposed, are brief. The domestic 
vaccination program is assumed to proceed in line with government guidance, and the 

international border is assumed to remain closed until the end of 2021. Unemployment is likely to 
have already peaked and is now expected to decline steadily to around 5¼ per cent by mid-2023. 
GDP is expected to have contracted by around 2 per cent over the year to December 2020, but 

then grow by around 3½ per cent over both 2021 and 2022. Inflation is expected to pick up a little 
alongside the gradual decline in the unemployment rate, to be 1¾ per cent by mid-2023. 

 

Faster recovery 

A 100% weighting to this scenario would 
reduce the expected credit loss provision by 

circa $20.7m 

 

 A stronger economic recovery than the one outlined in the baseline scenario is possible if ongoing 
low case numbers in Australia and a sustained run of positive health outcomes enable a faster 

easing of domestic restrictions. These outcomes would boost consumer and business confidence 
and reduce uncertainty, leading to a stronger recovery in private consumption and investment. In 
this scenario, a stronger rebound in activity would see the unemployment rate decline at a faster 

pace, falling to around 4¾ per cent by the end of 2022. 

 

Slower recovery 

A 100% weighting to this scenario would 
increase the expected credit loss provision by 

circa $6.4m 

 

A plausible downside scenario is that Australia experiences further large outbreaks of the virus. It is 
assumed that this would require broad activity restrictions to be reimposed. In this scenario, 

consumer and business confidence would be weaker and the recovery in household consumption 
and business investment would be slower than in the baseline scenario. As a result the 
unemployment rate would peak in this scenario at around 6¾ per cent in mid-2021 and decline 

only slowly in 2022. 
 

 

The judgements and assumptions used in estimating the overlays will be reviewed and refined in future financial periods as the 
COVID-19 pandemic progresses. 
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Loss allowance 

The impairment expense on the statement of profit or loss includes both net write-offs and provision movements.  

The following table explains the changes in the loss allowance between the beginning and the end of the annual period due to 
these factors: 

Consumer Leasing lease receivables  

Impairment provision Stage 1 

12-month ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Total 

$’000 AUD 

Loss allowance as at 1 April 2020 16,095 15,745 4,843 36,683 

Movements with P&L impact     

Transfers:     

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2                            (404)                              985  -                              581  

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3                            
(1442) 

-                          2,441                           999  

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1                              152                         (1,336) -                        (1,184) 

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,728) 1,710 (18) 

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 52 - (531) (479) 

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 57 (204) (147) 

New financial assets originated or purchased 1,606   1,606 

Changes in the balances of non-transferred financial 
assets 

                       (5,135)                          (12,535)  
                             

4,094  
                         (13,576)  

Change in estimates 12,071 4,233 13,213 29,517 

Changes to model assumptions and methodologies                        (1,487)                            (627) (707)                        (2,821) 

Write-offs 
  

                       
(21,824) 

                      (21,824) 

Total net P&L charge during the period                        5,413                          (10,951)                       (1,808)                        (7,346) 

Loss allowance as at 31 March 2021                         21,508                        4,794                           3,035                        29,337  

 

The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount of the loans and receivables to help explain their 
significance to the changes in the loss allowance as discussed above: 

Lease receivables Stage 1 

12-month ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Total 

$’000 AUD 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 April 2020  
107,013 

 
34,362 

 
4,970 

 
146,345 

Movements with P&L impact     

Transfers:     

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (4,157) 4,157 - -  

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (13,650) - 13,650 -  

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 3,011 (3,011) - -  

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (3,646) 3,646 - 

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 748 - (748) -  

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 287 (287) -  

New financial assets originated or purchased 10,680   10,680 

 Changes in the balances of non-transferred financial assets (34,140) (27,356) 4,202 (57,294) 

Write-offs   (22,399) (22,399) 

Total net change during the period (37,508) (29,569) (1,936) (69,013) 

 
Gross closing amount as at 31 March 2021 69,505 4,793 3,034                       77,332 
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Business finance loan and lease receivables  

Impairment provision Stage 1 

12-month ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Total 

$’000 AUD 

Loss allowance as at 1 April 2020 12,827 24,622 7,851 45,300 

Movements with P&L impact     

Transfers:     

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (193) 952 - 759 

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (454) - 1,595 1,141 

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 152 (784) - (632) 

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,435) 1,590 155 

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 57 - (434) (377) 

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 118 (200) (82) 

New financial assets originated or purchased 321   321 

Changes in the balances of non-transferred financial 
assets 

(6,191) (2,629) 6,375 (2,445) 

Change in estimates 2,532 3,874 8,864 15,270 

Changes to model assumptions and methodologies      

Write-offs   (14,363) (14,363) 

Total net P&L charge during the period (3,776) 96 3,427 (253) 

Loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 9,051 24,718 11,278 45,047 

 

The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount of the loans and lease receivables to help explain 
their significance to the changes in the loss allowance as discussed above: 

Loan and lease receivables Stage 1 

12-month ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL 

$’000 AUD 

Total 

$’000 AUD 

Gross carrying amount as at 1 April 2020  
256,021 

 
62,153 

 
7,314 

 
325,488 

Movements with P&L impact     

Transfers:     

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (3,452) 3,452 - -  

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (8,430) - 8,430 -  

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 2,247 (2,247) - -  

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (3,926) 3,926 -  

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 775 - (775) -  

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 357 (357) -  

New financial assets originated or purchased 6,401   6,401 

 Changes in the balances of non-transferred financial assets (123,570) (6,637) 6,377 (123,830) 

Write-offs   (14,363) (14,363) 

Total net change during the period (126,029) (9,001) 3,238 (131,792) 

 
Gross closing amount as at 31 March 2021 129,992 53,152 10,552 193,696 
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The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The consolidated 
entity’s net exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

$’000 AUD       2021 2020* 

Trade receivables 
  

                         6,970   10,568  

Consumer Leasing lease receivables  
  

74,154  139,852  

Business Finance lease receivables  
  

56,062  97,640  

Loan receivables   133,840 223,766  

Total gross amount       271,026 471,826 

Allowance for impairment 
  

         (74,384)  (81,983) 

        196,642 389,843 

 

Chattel mortgages are classified as loan receivables in accordance with AASB 9. The Group classifies its chattel mortgages as at 
amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are met: the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to 
collect the contractual cash flows, and the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest.  

Write-off policy 

The Group writes off financial assets in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) 
ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the Group’s recovery method is foreclosing on collateral and the value of the 
collateral such that there is no reasonable expectation of full recovery.  

Modification of financial assets 

The Group sometimes modifies the terms of leases provided to customers due to commercial renegotiations, or for distressed 
leases, with a view to maximising recovery. 

Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays, and payment forgiveness. 
Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of management, indicate that 
payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review.  

Contracts which have been modified are all considered to have a significant increase in credit risk and are measured using a 
lifetime expected credit loss model, unless other creditworthiness indicators provide information which would rebut this 
presumption.  

Model risk reserve 

A model risk reserve is in place for both the consumer finance receivables and the equipment finance receivables books.  Each 
of these reserves was calculated as 30% of the modelled provision on the adoption of AASB 9 and was intended to take into 
account any potential issues with data or the model that, if we had known at implementation, would have resulted in an 
increased provision. These reserves have been maintained at 30% of the modelled provision and have declined during the year 
in line with the decline in both the receivables book and the modelled provision. 

LGD overlay (consumer) 

A loss given default rate of 89% has been maintained in the consumer finance division through the use of an overlay. This is our 
best estimate of loss given default for consumer finance receivables. We have had to maintain the appropriate loss given 
default rate in the current year through an overlay due to the effect of both the rundown of the existing receivables book and 
the impact of the coronavirus on the modelled loss given default rate.  
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Impairment losses 

Consumer Leasing lease receivables 

$’000 AUD   Gross 2021 Impairment 2021 Gross 2020 Impairment 2020 

Stage 1  69,504 (21,509) 107,013 (16,095) 

Stage 2  4,795 (4,795) 34,362 (15,745) 

Stage 3   
3,033 (3,033) 4,970 (4,843) 

    77,332 (29,337) 146,345 (36,683) 

    
  

The Group applies the AASB 9 three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a 12-month loss for lease 
receivables in stage one and lifetime expected loss for lease receivables in stages 2 and 3. To measure the expected credit 
losses, lease receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.  

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of lease receivables over a period of 36 months respectively and the 
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and 
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.  

Collateral is held against the finance lease receivables in the form of the assets attached to the contract. In the event that the 
asset is returned due to early termination of the contract, the asset is available for rental on other contracts or disposal via cash 
sale. There has been no changes from prior periods and there are no unrecognised losses because of collateral. 
 

Business Finance lease receivables 

$’000 AUD   Gross 2021 Impairment 2021 Gross 2020 Impairment 2020 

Stage 1  39,111 (2,515) 77,145 (3,828) 

Stage 2  15,489 (7,142) 19,070 (7,636) 

Stage 3    
2,680 (2,680) 2,711 (2,711) 

    57,280 (12,337) 98,926 (14,175) 

 

Loan receivables (Business Finance and remaining consumer solar loans) 

$’000 AUD 
  Gross 2021 Impairment 2021 Gross 2020 

Impairment 
2020 

Stage 1  
90,881 (6,536) 178,868 (8,999) 

Stage 2  
37,663 (18,302) 43,084 (17,041) 

Stage 3    
7,872 (7,872) 4,603 (5,085) 

    
136,416 (32,710) 226,555 (31,125) 

 

The contractual amount outstanding on receivables that were written off during the year and that are still subject to 
enforcement activity is $9.0m.  

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group’s financial condition is adversely affected by an inability to meet its liabilities and support 
its business growth. The Company manages its capital to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern and to provide 
adequate returns to shareholders.  

The capital structure of the Group consists of external debt and shareholders’ equity. The Group manages its capital structure 
and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions and the Group’s individual situation.  The Group’s debt facilities 
contain restrictions on the Group’s ability to, among other things, sell or transfer assets, incur additional debt, repay other 
debt, make certain investments or acquisitions, repurchase or redeem shares and engage in alternate business activities. The 
facilities also contain a number of financial and non-financial covenants.  Failure to meet any of these covenants could result in 
an event of default under these facilities which could, in turn, allow the lender to declare all amounts outstanding to be 
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immediately due and payable or the inability to draw down further. In such a case, the financial condition, liquidity and results 
of operations of the Group could materially suffer.  

See note 16, loans and borrowings, for more information on a breach of warehouse parameters early in the year and the 
impact of this and COVID-19 on the Group’s existing funding arrangements.   

Liquidity risk is managed through the adequate provision of funding and effective capital management policies.  

The following are the contractual maturities of the consolidated entity’s financial liabilities including, where applicable, future 
interest payments as at 31 March 2021. 

31 March 2021 ($’000 AUD) 
Carrying  
amount 

Contractual 
Cash flows 

1 year or less 1-5 years 
5 years 

or more 

Securitised warehouse facility 166,303 170,726 107,254 63,471 - 

Lease liability 934 981 751 230 - 

Trade and other payables 15,723 15,723 15,723 - - 

 Total non-derivatives 182,960  187,430  123,728  63,701  - 

      

Interest rate swap      

(Inflow)  (429) (103) (326) - 

Outflow 3,721 4,178 2,496 1,682 - 

Total derivatives 3,721 3,749 2,393 1,356 - 

 

31 March 2020 ($’000 AUD) 
Carrying  
Amount 

Contractual 
Cash flows 

1 year or less 1-5 years 
5 years 

or more 

Securitised warehouse facility  305,545   332,507   127,066   205,441   -    

Lease liability 11,721 12,346 6,391 5,955  -    

Trade and other payables  14,988  14,988 14,988  -     -    

 Total non-derivatives  332,254  359,841 148,445 211,396 - 

      

Interest rate swap      

(Inflow)  (1,902) (914) (988) - 

Outflow 6,322 8,497 4,199 4,298 - 

Total derivatives 6,322 6,595 3,285 3,310 - 

The securitised warehouse facility is secured by rentals and payments receivable from the underlying receivable contracts. The 
amounts collected from these receivables are used to repay the securitised warehouse facility. As such the timing of repayment 
is dependent upon the timing of the receivable collections. For the purpose of this note, which requires contractual maturities, 
we have used the future contractual receivable repayment amounts to estimate the timing of repayment of the funding facility 
principal and interest. This is different from the current and non-current split in note 16 which is based on expected cash flows. 

The consolidated entity’s access to financing arrangements is disclosed in note 16. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign currency, will affect the consolidated 
entity’s income and cash flow. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters.  

Foreign currency risk 

The Group is not currently exposed to any significant foreign currency risks. In prior years the direct acquisition of inventories 
from overseas suppliers resulted in significant foreign currency risks. To mitigate this risk the Group operates a foreign 
exchange risk policy. The Group has historically been able to price its lease transactions to compensate for the impact of 
foreign currency fluctuations on its purchases. However, in periods of rapid change in an exchange rate, the Group may not be 
able to pass on such changes in the cost of purchased products to its customers which may negatively impact the Group’s 
financial performance. The Group currently does not actively hedge foreign currency risk and transacts in foreign currencies on 
a spot basis. 
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Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk the consolidated entity incurs a financial loss due to adverse movement in interest rates. The 
consolidated entity is subject to interest rate risk on its securitised warehouse funding facility. 

The consolidated entity enters into interest rate swaps to fix the interest payments on its warehouse borrowings and therefore 
remove the interest rate mismatch between the receivables and the borrowings.  

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the consolidated entity’s floating interest-bearing financial instruments was:  

$’000 AUD    2021 2020 

Free cash    68,300 28,723 

Borrowings, net of hedging    20,016 (27,632) 

At 31 March 2021, Thorn was hedged at 112% of its warehouse borrowing balance of $166.3m. A change of one percent in 
interest rates at the reporting date would have increased or decreased the consolidated entity’s equity and other 
comprehensive income by $618,000 (2020: $8,000), net of tax. 

 

Financial instruments 

Capital management 

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. The Board of Directors monitors the return on equity, which the consolidated entity 
defines as net profit after tax divided by the average of opening and closing equity. The Board of Directors also monitors the 
level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.  

Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, 
and trade and other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments excluding financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised initially at fair 
value plus transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised 
cost less impairment losses. 

A financial instrument is recognised if the consolidated entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets are derecognised if the consolidated entity’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or if the consolidated entity transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all 
risks and rewards of the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the consolidated entity’s obligation specified in the 
contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only 
when, the consolidated entity has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Thorn does not apply netting. 

The consolidated entity recognises its financial assets at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on its business model for 
managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The classification of financial 
assets that the consolidated entity held at the date of initial application was based on the facts and circumstances of the 
business model in which the financial assets were held at that date.  

Financial assets recognised at amortised cost are measured using the effective interest method, net of any impairment loss.  

Financial assets other than those classified as financial assets recognised at amortised cost are measured at fair value with any 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.  

Fair values 

Fair value reflects the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction. Quoted prices or rates are used to determine fair value where an active market exists. If 
the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair values are estimated using present value or other valuation techniques, 
using inputs based on market conditions prevailing on the measurement date. 
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The fair value hierarchy 

Financial instruments carried at fair value require disclosure of the valuation method according to the following hierarchy: 

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 
 

Derivatives are measured at fair value. These are level 2 instruments.  For all other financial instruments, amortised cost 
approximates fair value.  

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 

The cost of the Group’s investment in Quicka Holdings Pty Ltd is considered to represent fair value currently as the investment 
was made relatively close to the year end. No information has emerged in the period between acquisition and the balance date 
to suggest this is no longer representative of fair value. The investment is considered to be a Level 2 investment.  

 

15. PROVISIONS  

2021  
$’000 AUD 

Business 
Finance 

restitution 
Regulatory  Make good 

 
Service 

warranties 
Other  Total  

Opening balance 1,689 605 1,635 - - 3,929 

Provisions made during the year - - 18 1,808 583 2,409 

Provisions used during the year - - (1,230) - - (1,230) 

Provisions reversed during the year (1,689) - - - - (1,689) 

Provisions reclassified to other payables - (605) - - - (605) 

  - - 423 1,808 583 2,814 

Current - - 423 938 583 1,944 

Non-current - - - 870 - 870 

 
- - 423 1,808 583 2,814 

 
 

2020 

$’000 AUD 

Business 
Finance 

restitution 
Regulatory Make good 

 
Service 

warranties 
Other Total 

Opening balance 1,420 707 1,675 - - 3,802 

Provisions made during the year  269   -   47  - -  316  

Provisions used during the year  -   (102)  (87) - -  (189) 

Provisions reversed during the year -  
 

 -  - -  -  

Provisions reclassified to other payables  -   -   -  - -  -  

 
1,689  605   1,635  - -  3,929  

Current 1,689   605   1,635  - - 3,929  

Non-current  -     -  -  - -  -  

  1,689   605   1,635  - - 3,929  

Business Finance restitution 

In the 2019 financial year a large specific provision of $10.1m was taken up to provide in full for the receivable for the industry-
wide matter of a group of customers for a specific product who were challenging the enforceability of their leases. The 
Australian Financial Complaints Authority had issued an initial advice in favour of the customers and setting out terms of 
further restitution beyond the writing off of their payable balance. The receivable was written off in full, in accordance with the 
Group’s write off policy, as management concluded there is was no reasonable expectation of recovery and all practical 
recovery efforts have been exhausted.  
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The matter has now been settled and consequently the Group has released the remaining restitution provision related to this 
matter.  

Regulatory 

Regulatory provision amounts were set aside in the Consumer Leasing division for potential customer remediation, penalties 
and administration costs.  

Make good on leased premises 

Make good provision represent expected costs of returning leased office, showroom or warehouse premises to the condition 
specified in the individual lease contracts upon termination of the lease. 

Warranty provision  

Under the terms of the consumer leases originated in the Group’s Consumer Leasing division the Group is required to maintain 
the leased product in good working order. Provision has been made for the expected cost of this obligation over the remaining 
life of the existing lease arrangements.  

 

16. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Current liabilities     

Secured loans 78,203 117,918 

Non-Current liabilities   

Secured loans 88,100 187,627 

  166,303 305,545 

 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings 
are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.  
 

Financing facilities  

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Secured corporate loan facility A  -  12,000  

Utilised -  (12,000) 

Available headroom - -  

Secured corporate loan facility B  -  5,000  

Utilised -  (2,956) 

Available headroom -  2,044  

   

Securitised warehouse facility  166,303  368,000  

Utilised (166,303)  (293,545) 

Available headroom -  74,455  

Total loan facilities  166,303  385,000  

Utilised (166,303)  (308,501) 

Secured loan facilities not utilised at reporting date -  76,499  

   
Corporate facilities 

The corporate debt facility was in two parts; the ‘A’ facility, a general corporate facility, was fully repaid during the period (fully 
drawn to its $12.0m limit at 31 March 2020).  The second part, the ‘B’ facility, was a $5.0m limit of a combined undrawn 
overdraft and drawn bank guarantees to landlords and suppliers. Both credit facilities were closed during the year.   

The Group still retains access to bank guarantees as part of our ongoing transactional banking arrangements and at 31 March 
2021 the amount drawn was $1.6m (facility limit of ($1.8m). The Group has cash collateralized the facility.  
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Warehouse facility 

Thorn Business Finance is financed by a securitised warehouse facility (“the warehouse”) with senior notes held by a major 
Australian bank, mezzanine notes held by a major Australian financial services company, and equity class F notes held by Thorn.  

The warehouse facility is secured by rentals and payments receivable from the underlying receivable contracts and is non-
recourse to the Group by which it is meant that Thorn’s liability is limited to its class F notes unless it is liable in damages for 
breach of the documents or it is required to buy back an ineligible receivable (defined as one that breached Thorn’s initial sale 
representations and not merely that it goes into arrears or defaults).   

The amounts expected to be due and payable on the warehouse facility in the next 12 months are disclosed as current. At 
maturity no further leases are able to be sold down into the facility and the portfolio will amortise off for as long as the 
underlying receivables are payable.   

In addition to the actions taken, in May 2020, it was determined that there was a  breach of one of the compliance parameters 
in the warehouse which requires no more than 6% of the balances to be in arrears by more than 30 days.  This was attributable 
to the increasing presence of COVID-19 affected customers, many of whom had requested a payment holiday and had stopped 
repayments under their leases.  

This breach put the warehouse into run-off under its amortisation rules. As a result Thorn was unable to sell originations into 
the warehouse and the distributions it normally receives via the waterfall distribution mechanism were redirected to pay down 
the noteholders in order of seniority while the breach persisted. During this year Thorn reached an agreement with its funders 
to allow Thorn to vary contracts with certain COVID-19 affected customers. These variations were implemented and completed 
by year end. 

At 31 March 2021 the relevant arrears number was 3.9% (this number does not take into account receivables which have been 
written off) and was no longer in breach of this parameter. As a result of the amendments made to the funding arrangements 
which allowed us to undertake variations Thorn cannot originate new leases through the warehouse until further agreement is 
reached. The warehouse facility was reviewed by the noteholders in the normal course of business during the year and the 
availability period was not extended. 

 

17. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

Issued capital  

Number of shares 2021 2020 

On issue at the beginning of year 322,350,132 161,175,066 

Issue of new shares under dividend reinvestment plan 16,837,953 - 

Issue of new shares under a rights issue - 161,175,066 

  339,188,085 322,350,132 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and performance 
rights are recognised as a deduction from equity net of any tax effects. 

 Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at shareholder’s meetings. 

 In the event of the winding up of the Company ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors and 
are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation. 

 The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. 

Rights issue 

During the prior year a rights issue took place. The rights issue had an institutional component and a retail component. In 
September 2019, under the institutional offer, 64,342,142 shares were issued at $0.24 per share for gross proceeds of $15.4m 
less associated costs of $1.2m. In October 2019, the retail offer was finalised with a further 96,832,924 shares issued at an offer 
price of $0.24 resulting in gross proceeds of $23.3m less associated costs of $3.2m. In total 161,175,066 shares were issued with 
the Group receiving gross proceeds of $38.7m less $4.4m in associated costs.  
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Reserves 

The reserves consist of the equity remuneration reserve and the cash flow hedge reserve. The equity remuneration reserve 
represents the value of performance rights issued. The cash flow hedge reserve consists of the fair value of cash flow hedges 
after tax. 

$’000 AUD 2021  2020 

Cash flow hedge reserve (3,721) (6,322) 

Share-based payment reserve 229 410 

 (3,492) (5,912) 

 

Dividends 

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared. Dividends recognised in the current year by the 
Company are: 

  
Cents per Amount Franking  Date of 

Share $’000 AUD  % payment 

2021         

Final 2020 - - - n/a 

Interim 2021 - - - n/a 

Special dividend  7.5 24,176 30% 3rd November 2020 

Total amount  24,176   

2020         

Final 2019 - - - n/a 

Interim 2020 - - - n/a 

Total amount  -   

 
On 12 October 2020, the Thorn Board declared a fully franked special dividend of $0.075 cash per share ("Special Dividend"). 
The Special Dividend was paid to shareholders on Tuesday, 3 November 2020. The special dividend totalled $24.2m. A number 
of Thorn’s shareholders participated in the dividend reinvestment plan resulting in $2.6m of the total being reinvested in Thorn 
shares, resulting in a net cash outflow of $21.6m. 
  

The Directors have proposed a final dividend of 1.0 cent per share for an expected payment of $3.4m to be paid on the 21 July 
2021. This has not been recognised as a liability at year end. The dividends are fully franked. 
 

Dividend franking account 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

30% franking credits available to shareholders of Thorn Group Limited 28,346    41,739  

   
The above available amounts are based on the balance of the dividend franking account at year-end. This may be adjusted for: 

 franking credits that will arise from the payment of the current tax liabilities; 
 franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the year-end; and 
 franking credits that the entity may be prevented from distributing in subsequent years. 

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being sufficient available profits to declare dividends. 
 
At 31st March 2020, franking credit amount may be affected by $3,050,000 of income tax receivables recognised. 
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18. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

The consolidated entity presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares.  

Basic earnings per share 

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.  

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise performance 
rights granted to employees. 

 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Earnings per share    

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic)  $’000 AUD   

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (basic) 8,396  (81,068) 
 

  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  ‘000’s   
Issued ordinary shares at 1 April 322,350 161,175 

Effect of shares issued 6,874 79,437 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year 329,224 240,612 
 

  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)  ‘000’s    

Issued ordinary shares at 1 April 322,350 161,175 

Effect of shares issued 9,066 81,534 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year 331,417 242,709 

   

Earnings per share   
Basic earnings per share (cents) 2.6 (33.7) 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 2.5 (33.7) 
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19. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 

  Country of 
Incorporation 

Ownership Interest 

  2021 2020 

Parent entity    

Thorn Group Limited Australia   

    

Subsidiaries    

Thorn Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

A.C.N. 647 764 510 Pty Ltd** Australia 100% N/A 

A.C.N. 647 765 571 Pty Ltd** Australia 100% N/A 

Northmoney Pty Ltd ** Australia 100% N/A 

Eclipse Retail Rental Pty Ltd* Australia N/A 100% 

Rent Try Buy Pty Ltd* Australia N/A 100% 

Thorn Equipment Finance Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Thorn Business Finance Pty Limited Australia 100% 100% 

Thorn Finance Pty Ltd* Australia N/A 100% 

Thorn ABS Warehouse Trust No. 1 Australia 100% 100% 

*These entities were all dormant and were deregistered during the year.  
** These entities were incorporated during the year 

 

Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity 
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial results of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group 
balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated entity has established a special purpose entity (SPE), Thorn ABS Warehouse Trust No.1, for the purpose of 
securitising finance lease receivables acquired and other receivables it intends to originate. The SPE entity is wholly owned by 
the consolidated entity and included in the consolidated financial statements, based on the evaluation of the substance of its 
relationship with the consolidated entity and the SPE’s risks and rewards.  

The following circumstances indicate a relationship in which the consolidated entity controls and subsequently consolidates the 
SPE: 

 The activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of the consolidated entity according to its specific business needs 
so that the consolidated entity obtains benefits from the SPE’s operation; 

 The consolidated entity has the decision making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE; 
and/or  

 The consolidated entity retains the majority of the residual ownership risks of the SPE or its assets in order to obtain 
benefits from its activities. 

 
 
20. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE 

Thorn Group Limited and each of the subsidiaries listed in note 19 have entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee. The effect of 
this is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the 
subsidiaries under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act, the 
Company will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also 
given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up.  
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Pursuant to ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/785 Thorn Australia Pty Limited is relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 
requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports and Directors’ reports. 

The profit before tax per the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income comprising of entities which are parties to the 
Deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, at 31 March 2021, is the same as the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in this financial report. The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in 
this financial report includes the assets and liabilities of Thorn ABS Warehouse Trust No. 1 which have been disclosed in note 
22.  

 

21. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

As at 31 March 2021, and throughout the financial year ending 31 March 2021 the parent entity of the consolidated entity was 
Thorn Group Limited. 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Result of Parent Entity     

Profit / (Loss) for the period 24,176 (49,891)    

Other comprehensive income -  -  

Total comprehensive profit / (loss) for the period 24,176 (49,891)    

Financial position of the parent entity at year end   

Current assets -  3,051  

Total assets 108,181 105,775  

Current liabilities - - 

Total liabilities - - 

Total equity of the parent comprising   

Share capital 157,843 155,255 

Accumulated losses (49,891) (49,891) 

Equity remuneration reserve 229 410 

Total Equity 108,181 105,775 

 

The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with its trading subsidiaries.  Further details of the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the deed are disclosed in note 20. 

 

22. SPECIAL PURPOSE ENTITY 

The Group sells receivables into the securitised warehouse (a special purpose entity for accounting). The warehouse is 
consolidated as set out in note 19 as the Group is exposed or has rights to variable returns and has the ability to affect its 
returns through its power over the warehouse. The table below presents assets (net of provision) and the underlying 
liabilities attributable to the warehouse. 

$’000 AUD 2021 2020 

Net Receivables 141,592 261,678  

Cash held by Trust 19,745  20,896  

Total assets 161,337 282,574  

Borrowings related to receivables 166,303 293,545 

Derivative financial instruments 3,721 6,322 

Total liabilities 170,024 299,867 

Net liabilities (8,687) (17,293) 
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The Group provide additional support to the special purpose entity including a liquidity facility of $3.6m (2020: $3.6m) and a bill 
and collect facility of $1.9m (2020: $2.5m).  

When the securitised warehouse is open for originations (currently it is not, see note 16 for further information) a level of 
credit enhancement is required to be maintained through the junior note investment made by the Group. There are scenarios 
where the Group could be required to inject cash into the securitised warehouse to maintain this credit enhancement. This has 
not occurred to date.  

 

23. RELATED PARTIES  

Key management personnel remuneration 

$ 2021 2020 

Short-term employee benefits 1,740,331 2,459,609 

Post-employment benefits 165,160 127,713  

Long-term employee benefits -  -  

Share-based payments (90,622)  (307,421) 

  1,814,869 2,279,901 

 

Individual directors and executives compensation disclosures 

Information regarding individual Director’s and executive’s compensation and some equity instruments disclosures as required 
by Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration report section of the Directors’ report. 

There were no loans made or outstanding to Directors or executive KMP during or at the end of the year.   

During the year, the Group had made an investment into Quicka Holdings Pty Ltd and subsequently the Group’s CEO Peter 
Lirantzis was appointed as director of Quicka Holdings Pty Ltd. No further transactions have taken place after the initial 
investment (refer to note 8) to 31 March 2021. 

 

24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

The aggregate transactions and outstanding balances relating to share-based payments were as follows: 

Performance rights granted as compensation in the year 

 Performance Rights Granted Financial Year in which Grants Vest 
(ended 31 March)  Number Grant Date 

Performance rights 464,253 22 May 2020 2022 

 

Performance rights over equity instruments granted  

The movement during the year in the number of performance rights over ordinary shares in Thorn Group Limited held directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by the employees is as follows: 

 Held at  
1 April 2020 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Vested during  
the year 

Lapsed  Forfeited Held at 31 March 
2021 

Performance rights  2,790,783  464,253 - (332,755) (1,610,658) 1,311,624 

 

25. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 

$’000 AUD  2021 2020 

Employee benefit expense   29,295 48,194 

 
Employee benefit expense includes redundancy expenses of $4,154,000 (2020: $170,000). 
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26. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

In whole AUD 2021 2020 

 
UHY  

Haines Norton 
PwC 

Australia 

Audit services   

Audit and review of financial reports 375,000 1,016,938 

Total Audit Services 375,000 1,016,938 

Other services   

Other statutory assurance services - 171,250 

Other assurance services - 14,280 

Controls review 100,000 - 

Other assurance services 100,000 185,530 

Non-audit services   

Tax advisory and compliance 50,000 - 

Total non-audit services 50,000 - 

Total auditor’s remuneration 525,000 1,202,468 

 
 

During the year PwC were paid $386,250 for audit and review of financial reports (related to the 2020 financial year) and 
$91,800 for other assurance services.  

 
 

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

Refer to note 17 for the final dividend recommended by the directors, to be paid on 20 July 2021. 
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